

Full title: Reducing population exposure to unhealthy commodity advertising: evaluation of the Bristol Advertising and Sponsorship Policy (pre-intervention Data Collection)

Short title: Bristol Advertisement Ban

Protocol version number v1.0

Protocol date: November 15, 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	2
KEY STUDY CONTACTS	3
II.STUDY SUMMARY	3
III.STUDY MANAGEMENT	4
1. PLAIN ENGLISH SUMMARY	5
2. BACKGROUND	5
3. RATIONALE	8
4. RESEARCH AIM, OBJECTIVES AND OUTCOME MEASURES	8
4.1 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES 5. STUDY DESIGN & SETTING	
5.1 STUDY DESIGN	9
5.4 SURVEY DATA COLLECTION	
5.5 ADVERTISEMENT DATA COLLECTION	
5.6 QUALITATIVE DATA COLLECTION	
5.7 PROJECT OUTLINE AND TIMETABLE	
6.1 SAMPLE SIZE CALCULATION	11
9. ETHICAL AND REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS	13
8.1 ETHICAL APPROVAL	13 13
8.5 INDEMNITY	14
10 DEFEDENCES	15

KEY STUDY CONTACTS

Chief	Professor Frank de Vocht, Bristol Medical School.
Investigators	(frank.devocht@bristol.ac.uk)
Funders	NIHR Public Health Research Rapid Funding Scheme

Key Protocol Contributors

Professor Russ Jago, School of Policy Studies (Russ.Jago@bristol.ac.uk)

Professor Jeremy Horwood, Bristol Medical School (J.Horwood@bristol.ac.uk)

Dr Zoi Toumpakari, School of Policy Studies (Z.Toumpakari@bristol.ac.uk)

Dr James Nobles, Bristol Medical School (james.nobles@bristol.ac.uk)

Dr Carlos Sillero Rejon, Bristol Medical School (carlos.sillerorejon@bristol.ac.uk)

Professor Steven Cummins, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (Steven.Cummins@lshtm.ac.uk_

II.STUDY SUMMARY

Study Title	Reducing population exposure to unhealthy commodity advertising: evaluation of the Bristol Advertising and Sponsorship Policy (pre-intervention Data Collection)				
Internal ref. no. (or short title)	Bristol ad ban evaluation				
Study Design	Cross-sectional survey and interviews				
Intervention	Introduction of the new Bristol Council unhealthy commodities (HFSS, alcohol, gambling) advertisement policy				
Study Participants	Residents of Bristol and South Gloucestershire				
Planned Size of Sample	2,000 to 3,000				
Planned Study Period	November 1 st 2021 – February 28 2022				

III.STUDY MANAGEMENT

Sponsor

Funder

This research is supported by National Institute for Health Research Public Health Research Rapid Funding Scheme (NIHR135220).

Project Management and governance

Professor de Vocht will manage the project and the survey data collection. Dr Toumpakari will manage the exposure assessment part of the study and Dr Nobles the qualitative data collection. The whole study team will meet monthly face-to-face or online via Teams. Issue that may occur in between meetings will be dealt with via email. Each meeting aims to have Ms Blake, the PPI co-applicant, attending.

A Study Steering Committee (SSC) will be established during this pre-intervention data collection project, which will subsequently stay on for the full evaluation (if funded). The SSC will meet twice to provide input into project results, external validation and transferability (Month 3), and development of the full evaluation research (month 5).

1. PLAIN ENGLISH SUMMARY

Aims of the Research: This research project aims to collect information on how much people in the city of Bristol and in South Gloucestershire see advertisements for unhealthy products such as junk foods and soft drinks, alcohol, and gambling. It also aims to find out how often they use these products. This is important because Bristol City Council will ban this sort of advertising in the city at the end of 2021. To be able to see if the ban had an effect we need to collect information before and after the implementation of the ban. This research project will collect information before the ban and a larger study, which we hope to conduct in future, will collect further information after the ban. We will then compare the results between the before and after groups.

Background of the Research: Research has shown that the more people see adverts for unhealthy products the more they use them, and that this is especially the case for children and young people. People who are on lower incomes are exposed to more unhealthy adverts, including from bus stops and billboards in their neighbourhoods. Some research also suggests that if these adverts are removed, this has a positive effect on people's behaviours. In 2019 the Mayor of London brought in a new policy to ban adverts for foods and drinks high in fat, sugar and/or salt at any places in London owned by Transport for London (Tfl). A first assessment of this policy shows positive effects on people buying less of the unhealthy products. Bristol City Council will start a similar advertisement ban at the end of 2021, but it will also include alcohol and gambling. This will be the first policy like this outside London.

Design and methods used: A survey will be sent to people living in Bristol. It will collect information on exposure to the advertising of unhealthy products and the use of those products. The same survey will be sent to people living in South Gloucestershire so we can compare with a similar area nearby that does not have the same ban. We can then repeat the survey after the ban has started so that we can compare before-and-after results. We will also collect photos from all advertisement sites that will be affected by the ban, as well as those in the area without the ban, so that we can compare real changes in a future evaluation study. In addition we will use Google Streetview to obtain similar images over the time period prior to our photo collection period to obtain better insights in temporal changes in advertisement exposures. Lastly, we will interview people who designed and planned the policy about how it was made and put into practice.

Patient and public involvement: This research proposal has been designed with input from the PPI Lead of NIHR Applied Research Collaboration West (ARC West) and with a member of the ARC West PPI group with an interest in this topic. She has agreed to be a co-applicant for this work. She will help with study design, design of the survey, attend study management meetings, and will be active in any publishing of results. If a full evaluation is to be carried out, she will continue to lead the PPI group.

Publication of results: We expect the main results in the second study after the ban. However, we will use the information from this first study to find out more about exposure to unhealthy advertising and different incomes or ethnicities in Bristol and South Gloucestershire.

2. BACKGROUND

Commercial determinants of health are described as "strategies and approaches used by the private sector to promote products and choices that are detrimental to health" [Kickbusch et al., 2016], and in addition to tobacco, alcohol and unhealthy foods, have come to include other health-harming industries such as gambling [Goyder et al., 2020] and payday loans. The exposure of people, and in particular children and adolescents, to unhealthy commodity advertisements is recognised as a risk factor for the development of non-communicable

diseases, and is therefore a priority for policy action [WHO, 2016]. Outdoor advertising is thought to reach 98% of the UK population at least once a week [OutSmart, 2021] with 84.7% reporting exposure to High Fat, Salt or Sugar (HFSS) advertising specifically in the past 7 days with middle and lower socio-economic group reporting higher exposure compared to the high socio-economic group [Yau et al., 2021b]. Gradients of exposure to these advertisements by deprivation and ethnicity are reported in the UK and internationally [Di Cesare et al., 2013; Fagerberg et al., 2019; Lowery and Sloane, 2014; Olsen et al., 2021; Robertson et al., 2017; Settle et al., 2014; Thomas et al., 2019]; thereby potentially acting as a mechanism by which health inequalities are exacerbated. Evidence suggests that unhealthy commodity advertising has cumulative effects, especially on children and adolescents, in that attitudes as well as consumption behaviours correlate with the frequency of exposure to marketing messages [Cairns et al., 2013; Gordon et al., 2011; Scully et al., 2012].

Outdoor spaces and transport facilities are important locations for advertisingas these 'out-of-house' exposures in the community are an integral part of the total exposure of its residents. For example, data from Scotland describe that fast food products totalled 15.3% of all "out-of-house" advertisements, confectionary 6.8% and alcohol 4.0% [Olsen et al., 2021]. Exposure to advertisement in recreational environments in the UK was associated with 46% higher odds of obesity [Yau et al., 2021b]. Advertisement on outdoor advertisement spaces, including bus stops but also other spaces including hoardings, billboards, screens and bins, therefore provided a potential key target for legislation to reduce health inequalities. Evidence from modelling studies suggests that unhealthy commodities advertising bans can have beneficial reductions in purchase and consumption of such products in the population; for example, a 15% reduction in the quantity of crisps sold [Dubois et al., 2018] and a 5-8% reduction in alcohol consumption [Saffer and Dave, 2010] if bans were introduced might be possible.

Bristol City Council has a long-term, "One City Plan" which engages public and private sector organisations, large charities, voluntary groups, and grassroots communities to deliver a fairer, healthier and safer city. A key part of this plan is an Advertising and Sponsorship Policy [Bristol City Council, 2018a] which has been developed to provide a framework for advertising and sponsorship in public places and aims to curb exposure to unhealthy commodities advertising (HFSS products, alcohol and gambling). This Policy document, for the first time, identifies what will not be permitted for advertising and/or sponsorship and be implemented from November 2021.

A key part of the Policy relates to HFSS foods and drinks, a major contributor to unhealthy commodity advertising, especially with to children. Under the policy, food and drink brands may only advertise if they promote non-HFSS options as the basis for the advert. Although government policies aimed at curbing children's exposure to the advertisement of HFSS foods and beverages on television have been in place since 2007, exposure to HFSS food and beverage advertising in other settings; such as outdoor advertising is important with televised media accounting for just 18% of total advertising by revenue [GroupM, 2020]. The advertisement of foods and beverages has been shown to affect nutrition knowledge preferences, purchasing, and consumption in children, but less so in adults [Boyland et al., 2016], with television advertising shown mainly to promote less healthy products[Cairns et al., 2013]. Evidence suggest that a much broader media strategy is required for this to result in meaningful impact on obesity and public health more generally [Adams et al., 2012; World Health Organisation (WHO), 2018]. Regulating the advertisement of HFSS foods and beverages has been promoted as a policy lever, especially for the prevention of childhood obesity, by the World Health Organization [World Health Organisation (WHO), 2018]. Advertisement strategies for HFSS (and

other unhealthy commodities) contribute to increased health inequalities because people from more disadvantages households have greater exposure in outdoor and recreational settings [Adams et al., 2012; Backholer et al., 2021].

To address this, the Bristol Policy, which was developed with SUSTAIN; the alliance for better food and farming [SUSTAIN, 2021], specifically includes the prohibition in public spaces or Bristol Council owned buildings or services of:

- Promotion or availability of foods and drinks that are high in fat, salt and/or sugar (HFSS)
 as defined by the Department of Health and Social Care's nutrient profiling model, without
 exceptions
- Promotion or availability of alcoholic drinks. This includes advertisements where there is a range of drinks featured, some of which are alcoholic.
- Promotion of a food or drink brand (including food and drink service companies or ordering services) where no food or drink product is featured directly. These brands and services will only be able to place advertisements if the advertisement promotes healthier options (i.e. non- HFSS products) as the basis of the copy.

The Bristol HFSS advertisement ban includes any HFSS products shown in any meal setting, including those for restaurants, aggregator platforms (for online advertisements) and delivery services. Thus, the Bristol strategy has a broader scope than a complementary HFSS advertisement ban implemented by Transport for London (TfL) in February 2019 as part of the Mayor's strategy to tackle childhood obesity [Thompson et al., 2021].

The Bristol HFSS advertisement ban will be based on the UK Nutrient Profiles Model (NPM) for the purpose of deciding which foods can be advertised to children via television [Department of Health, 2011]. Foods with a final score of 4 or more and drinks with a score of 1 or more are classified as HFSS. This follows the same methodology adopted as part of the recent evaluation of the TfL advertisement ban [Bristol City Council, 2018b; TfL, 2018], The evaluation of the TfL advertisement ban was conducted by a School of Public Health Research Team including de Vocht and led by Cummins (co-applicant) [Yau et al., 2021a]. Although there was significant opposition from industry expressed through the media to the ban at the time [Thompson et al., 2021], the evaluation showed that over a 10-month period there was a 5% reduction in average weekly household purchases of HFSS products (0.7 packs, [95%CI 0.2-1.2]) in households living in the intervention area compared to the counterfactual, which was accompanied by a decrease in average weekly household purchases of energy (1015.4 kcal [473.6-1557.2]). The largest reductions were observed for chocolate and confectionery (21.4%, 0.4 packs [0.3-0.6]) resulting in average weekly decreases in purchased energy (317.9 kcal [200.0-435.8]) from these purchases. The changes in chocolate and confectionary intake are particularly important as these products were completely removed from advertising on the TfL network as there was a lack of alternative products from the same company that could be advertised (companies that sell a range of products could substitute advertising of a burger for a salad, but a chocolate company could not make this switch as all their products would be banned). The observed changes were larger in more deprived households, households with children and households where the main food shopper was living with overweight or obesity. This indicates that the policy may be well targeted to high-risk groups and may have the potential to reduce health inequalities. These results indicate that the restrictions around the advertising of HFSS foods and drinks by TfL has a meaningful impact on HFSS purchasing and may therefore improve population diet and diet-related disease through reductions in purchases of HFSS products; the Bristol advertisement may similarly impact on public health and health inequalities, but a formal evaluation is required.

Such a formal evaluation is further important because the ban that will be implemented in Bristol is stricter than the TfL ban in that there are no exceptions (such as for example for olive oil and vitamin supplements [Tfl, 2019]; 33 product in total in total on 27/03/2020 [Tfl, 2020]) while it also has a wider scope than the TfL ban and includes unhealthy commodities more broadly (in addition to HFSS products it also includes alcohol and gambling). The Bristol policy also includes:

- Promotion or availability of tobacco products or substitute tobacco products, weapons, gambling, or illegal drugs
- Advertising of loan advancers which meet the Financial Standards Authority's definition of 'High Cost Short Term (HCST)'

The inclusion of gambling is a new addition here. Similar to advertisement for HFSS (and alcohol and tobacco products), associations between gambling advertisement and adverse impact, especially on young people, have been described [Monaghan et al., 2008; Syvertsen et al., 2021], including on self-perceived at-risk or problematic gambling [Kristiansen and Severin-Nielsen, 2021]; mainly through triggering impulses to gamble [Binde, 2009].

A third difference compared to the TfL advertisement ban is that it relates to a smaller part of the total outdoor advertising estate. Whereas TfL has responsibility for London's network of principal road routes and various rail networks in Bristol the advertisement ban will relate to Council-owned bus-stops, billboards and boarded fences (hoardings), Council media channels and digital screens across the city.

The ban represents a novel, broad, public health intervention which is about to be implemented in Bristol. There is evidence that a complementary policy in London was associated with the anticipated positive public health impacts, but there are also crucial differences between the policies and the context of implementation. There is a time sensitive opportunity to examine the impact of the ban on the targeting of HFSS, alcohol, and gambling on health behaviours.

3. RATIONALE

The project aims to collect pre-intervention baseline data as the precursor for a future evaluation of the impact of the advertising ban policy. The full evaluation we propose will be natural experiment and we plan to apply to the PHR programme for funding for the full evaluation. However, in order to conduct this evaluation, there is a pressing need to collect pre-intervention data imminently.

4. RESEARCH AIM, OBJECTIVES AND OUTCOME MEASURES

The proposed research aims to prospectively collect baseline data prior to the implementation of the new advertisement policy at the end of 2021 in the exposed and a comparable control residents populations. This will enable a subsequent full evaluation, where baseline data can be compared with post-intervention follow-up data. Specifically, the proposed project aims to collect the following baseline data from the exposed area (Bristol) and neighbouring control area (South Gloucestershire):

4.1 RESEARCH OBJECTIVES

To collect information on

1 Self-reported exposure to advertisement of HFSS foods, alcohol, and gambling.

- 2 Self-reported recent purchase and consumption of HFSS products, alcohol, or gambling
- 3 <u>Measured exposure</u> of advertisements displayed at council-owned sites throughout the city of Bristol and the control area of South Gloucestershire

And:

- 4 Gather <u>stakeholder information on</u> the rationale the policy, implementation challenges, its intended impacts, and resources used.
- 5 Identify <u>data requirements</u>, sources and <u>availability</u> to conduct the economic evaluation of the policy

5. STUDY DESIGN & SETTING

5.1 STUDY DESIGN

A natural experiment will be used to evaluate the implementation and impact of the advertising ban in Bristol [Vocht et al., 2021]. A future full evaluation will have a controlled before-after repeated cross-sectional design (with the expectation of some repeated measures), with the current project aimed at collecting the cross-sectional sample of the pre-implementation (baseline) data.

5.2 INTERVENTION

The new Advertising and Sponsorship Policy [Bristol City Council, 2018a], which has been developed to provide a framework for advertising and sponsorship in public places and aims to curb the exposure to advertisements for unhealthy commodities HFSS products, alcohol and gambling, will be introduced by the end of December 2021. The policy will encompass all public advertisement places owned by Bristol City Council and will include 283 bus shelters and 17 hoardings throughout the city as well as Council media channels and numerous digital screens at venues such as museums, libraries and customer service points across the city.

5.3 STUDY SETTING

The study is set in the resident population of Bristol (subject to the intervention) and the control population of South Gloucestershire (the control). The 'exposed population' is defined as the population of Bristol who are, by means of their residency location, exposed to the 'out-of-house' advertisement subject to the ban. We will collect data from this population through a survey sent to the Bristol Citizen's Panel and wider population (see below). South Gloucestershire has a comparable citizens' panel to Bristol, "Viewpoint", enabling the collection of the same data from the control and exposed populations in the same time period.

5.4 SURVEY DATA COLLECTION

We will collect self-reported information on specific exposure to HFSS foods, alcohol and gambling advertisements, as well recent use of these products that in the exposed and the control population by means of a bespoke survey. The survey will consist of 32 questions that have been developed and agreed together with the collaborators, Panel managers, and PPI representatives, and takes 5-10 minutes to complete.

The survey will be digitalised. Considerable efforts have resulted sampling frames in both areas being broadly representative of the demographics of the underlying populations. Surveys will be sent out by email by its managers at Bristol City Council and South Gloucestershire Council. To maximise representativeness and response from traditionally under-represented groups, panel managers have established specific sampling strategies and we will use these standard approaches.

In Bristol, the survey will be sent to all participants of the Bristol Citizens' Panel (https://bristol.citizenspace.com/business-change/bristols-citizens-panel/), which is distributed every three months to about 1,000 Bristol citizens. The sample will be supplemented by subscribers to the survey newsletter (~3,000 people). In addition, the survey link will be sent to stakeholder contacts (about 200 equality organisations and partner organisations). Paper copies will be sent to the most deprived 20% of communities, and will be provided at libraries and upon request to digitally excluded citizens and others who request this. Alternative formats will be provided to people with specific accessibility needs (although language translation will not be possible) Together these form the basis of the survey methodology routinely used by the Council to get information from an approximately representative sample of the Bristol population.

In the control area of South Gloucestershire the survey will be distributed using similar methods, which includes sending to all participants in the comparable South Gloucestershire Viewpoint Panel, which currently has about 2,300 participants (https://www.southglos.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/customer-services/viewpoint-citizens-panel/), as well as the distribution of paper copies.

5.5 ADVERTISEMENT DATA COLLECTION

We will collect objective information of a snapshot of advertisement exposure by creating a database of photos of all advertisement sites across Bristol and South Gloucestershire. Staff will visit all sites - about 283 bus stops and 17 hoardings as well as several billboards and digital screens - in Bristol and the bus stops, billboards and hoardings in the South Gloucestershire urban areas surrounding Bristol and take a photo of the advertisement on display. Geolocations of each site have been provided by our collaborators from Bristol City Council and will be provided by South Gloucestershire Council. In addition, and to explore the temporal variability of advertising, we will use Google Street View and store images of the same sites (we will store the most recent imagine were more are available).

5.6 QUALITATIVE DATA COLLECTION

We will conduct semi-structured interviews to collect stakeholder accounts of events that led to the ban and resources involved in its design, organisation and implementation. Interview participants will include Council staff and other stakeholders involved in the policy. The topic guide includes questions on rationale for the policy; how the policy was developed and expected impacts; the barriers and facilitators to its initial planning, implementation plans and anticipated impact; and, future plans using TIDieR-PHP as a framework [Campbell et al., 2018]. Qualitative economic data will also be collected that can subsequently inform a health economic assessment in the full evaluation. We will use convenience sampling followed by snowball sampling via those already interviewed and aim for 8-15 interviews. Interviews will be audio

recorded, and then transcribed and anonymised by Bristol Transcription Services. Data will be analysed using the framework method [Gale et al., 2013]. Anonymised quotes, will be used in the reports, publications and presentations. The findings from this work will contribute to the mixed methods paper.

5.7 PROJECT OUTLINE AND TIMETABLE

The proposed project has five Deliverables.

- 1. Dataset baseline data from the surveys and analyses
- 2. Pre-intervention exposure assessments
- 3. Transcribed stakeholder interviews and analysis
- 4. Mixed methods draft manuscript
- 5. Final report

	Oc '21	No '21	De '21	Ja '22	Fe '22	Ma '22
Research Ethics approval						
Surveys Bristol & South Gloucestershire						
Survey data management & analysis						
(Del. 1)						
Exposure Assessment (Del 2)						
Structured interviews stakeholders						
Transcription and analysis interviews						
(Del 3)						
Outline mixed-methods manuscript						
(Del 4)						
Final Report (Del 5)						
Project team meetings				Х	Х	Х
Study Steering Group meetings				Х		Х

6. STATISTICS AND DATA ANALYSIS

6.1 SAMPLE SIZE CALCULATION

The survey will be distributed to about 5,000 people in both Bristol and South Gloucestershire. Based on previous surveys we anticipate a 30-50% response rate (including additional efforts to increase the response rate from under-served groups) resulting in 1,500-2,500 responses from Bristol and 700-1,100 from South Gloucestershire. Final numbers will inform recruitment strategies and samples size calculations for the full evaluation. However, if we assume 84% will be exposed to HFSS advertising in the past 7 days [Yau et al., 2021b], 30% response rates, α =5% and power=80%, we'd expect to be able to detect a 5% difference in exposure in a cross-sectional sample.

A convenience sample of those involved in designing the ban will be recruited for the interviews. We anticipate to conduct up to 15 interviews.

6.2 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS PLAN

These data will inform recruitment methods, strategies and sample size decisions for the full evaluation, and no exposure-response statistical analyses will be conducted in this project. We will write a manuscript for submission to a peer-reviewed mixed-methods scientific journal in which we will provide a descriptive overview of patterns of advertisement exposure and product use for various population groups as well as to discuss the policy (ie the intervention) and its rationale.

6.3 QUALITATIVE ANALYSIS PLAN

The audio recordings will be transferred to secure servers at the University of Bristol and will only be accessed by the research team. The anonymised data will then be organised using the framework method (Gale, Heath, Cameron, Rashid, & Redwood, 2013). This approach will be used to analyse the notes using inductive and deductive coding to develop a systematic coding framework that will help identify patterns in the data relevant to the research questions. Framework analysis is appropriate for this research because it has specific questions, a limited time frame, a pre-designed sample and a priori issues. The data will be imported into Microsoft EXCEL to be analysed. A subset of transcripts will be independently double-coded by other members of the research team and compared; any discrepancies will be discussed within the research team and resolved in order to achieve a coding consensus and to maximise rigour.

7. DATA MANAGEMENT

Data will be collected and retained in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation 2018 (GDPR) and subsequent data protection laws that supersedes the DPA, and the University of Bristol, Research Data Service 'Guidance on the Retention of Research Records and Data' (Version 3.0 September 2019).

Survey data: The surveys will be managed by the Council Survey management teams. Information will be provided with the survey outlining that pseudo-anonymised data will be used for research purposes. The Council will remove the postal code from the survey data and replace this with the corresponding lower super output area (1,000-3,000) people. The anonymised datasets will be sent to the research team using the University of Bristol FLUFF service Data and encrypted in accordance with the University of Bristol Information Security Policies. The key with the link to postal codes will be stored by the Council survey management teams to enable linking of repeated measurements in a subsequent full evaluation. A Data transfer Agreement will be signed by both parties prior to sharing of any data.

Interviews: Qualitative interviews will be digitally audio recorded using University of Bristol approved encrypted digital audio recorders or by using University of Bristol supported remote conference facilities of MS Teams or Zoom (approved as secure by the University of Bristol (http://www.bristol.ac.uk/telephones/conference-solutions/). Audio files will immediately be stored on secure password protected University of Bristol network filestore space. Digital audio recordings will be transcribed by Bristol Transcription Services, a University of Bristol approved transcription company and a confidentiality agreement will be signed prior to this work commencing. Data will be encrypted in accordance with the University of Bristol Information Security Policies whenever it is transmitted electronically or otherwise conveyed.

Interview transcripts will be edited to remove identifying details, and participants will be allocated codes to prevent linkage of data to participant details except by the researchers conducting the interviews and analysis.

Exposure data: all photos and images will be stored for analyses if a full evaluation will be funded.

All electronic data will be stored on a secure password protected University network filestore space where access is controlled by use of user accounts and file access control lists. Servers providing the system hosting are located in secure data centres within the University of Bristol estate. These buildings are protected by secure automatic locking doors, requiring appropriate University Card (MiFare2) and biometric second factor-controlled access to enter (for limited authorised personnel only) and are monitored by CCTV by University security services. Locations of routers and switches are physically restricted to IT Services staff.

Anonymised analysed data and summaries of data will be held for 10 years after the study is finished.

9. ETHICAL AND REGULATORY CONSIDERATIONS

8.1 ETHICAL APPROVAL

A favourable opinion has been obtained by the University of Bristol's Faculty of Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee for the survey part of the study in an expedited review (Reference 9754). The interviews have been submitted to the University of Bristol's Faculty of Health Sciences Research Ethics Committee separately, and will be reviewed in the next meeting.

Any subsequent protocol amendments will be submitted to the Research Ethics Committee for approval.

8.2 PUBLIC AND PATIENT INVOLVEMENT

PPI has been an integral part of the development of this research and is also an integral part of the project. Ms Blake is the PPI co-applicant and is the PPI Chair of the project. She and the NIHR ARC West PPI Representative contributed to the development of the current study by reviewing the application and provided input in study design, methods including the survey questions, and abstracts, and have particularly provided input into the PPI elements of the research. The PPI Chair will attend study team meetings. In addition, through the surveys we will recruit 3 additional PPI representatives to represent important intersections to contribute to a full evaluation, they will be invited to the last management meeting (month 5).

8.3 INVESTIGATORS RESPONSIBILITY

The PI will ensure that local research approvals have been obtained and that any contractual agreements required have been signed off by all parties before commencing the study. Investigators will be required to ensure compliance to the protocol. Investigators will be

required to allow access to study documentation or source data on request for monitoring visits and audits performed by the Sponsor or any regulatory authorities.

Investigators will be required to read, acknowledge and inform the study team of any amendments to the study documents approved the ethics committee that they receive and ensure that the changes are complied with.

8.4 CONFIDENTIALITY

Identifiable information from the surveys will be kept by the respective Survey managers at each Council, and only anonymous data shared with the research team.

The Principal Investigators and the research team will preserve the confidentiality of participants in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018 and subsequent data protection laws that supersedes the DPA. All research data will be handled according to the principles of the Data Protection Act and University of Bristol data protection policies, especially for sensitive, personal data. Data will be anonymised and stored on a password protected computer located in the University of Bristol and appropriately backed up.

8.6 STUDY SPONSORSHIP

The study does not require additional study sponsorship in addition to FREC approval.

9. DISSEMINATION

We will submit one scientific mixed-methods paper to a peer-reviewed journal. However, the data will primarily be used to inform a full evaluation of the intervention. This is a separate research grant application which we aim to submit in Spring 2022. If successful, the data collected in this project will be used in the full evaluation. We will ask separate full FREC approval for this in due course.

10.REFERENCES

- Adams J, Tyrrell R, Adamson AJ, White M. 2012. Socio-economic differences in exposure to television food advertisements in the UK: a cross-sectional study of advertisements broadcast in one television region. Public Health Nutr. 15:487–494. https://www.cambridge.org/core/journals/public-health-nutrition/article/socioeconomic-differences-in-exposure-to-television-food-advertisements-in-the-uk-a-crosssectional-study-of-advertisements-broadcast-in-one-television-region/3C93147DC9F16C32F04664DE03FC1D24.
- Backholer K, Gupta A, Zorbas C, Bennett R, Huse O, Chung A, Isaacs A, Golds G, Kelly B, Peeters A. 2021. Differential exposure to, and potential impact of, unhealthy advertising to children by socioeconomic and ethnic groups: A systematic review of the evidence. Obes. Rev. 22:e13144. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/obr.13144.
- Binde P. 2009. Exploring the impact of gambling advertising: An interview study of problem gamblers. Int. J. Ment. Health Addict. 7:541–554.
- Boyland EJ, Nolan S, Kelly B, Tudur-Smith C, Jones A, Halford JC, Robinson E. 2016. Advertising as a cue to consume: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of acute exposure to unhealthy food and nonalcoholic beverage advertising on intake in children and adults,. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 103:519–533. https://academic.oup.com/ajcn/article/103/2/519/4662876.
- Bristol City Council. 2018a. Advertising and Sponsorship Policy. https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s58004/Appendix Ai Advertising and Sponsorship Policy.pdf.
- Bristol City Council. 2018b. Advertising and Sponsorship Policy: High Fat, Salt or Sugar Policy Guidance Note. https://democracy.bristol.gov.uk/documents/s58005/Appendix Aii HFSS Guidance Note.pdf.
- Cairns G, Angus K, Hastings G, Caraher M. 2013. Systematic reviews of the evidence on the nature, extent and effects of food marketing to children. A retrospective summary. Appetite 62:209–215.
- Campbell M, Katikireddi SV, Hoffmann T, Armstrong R, Waters E, Craig P. 2018. TIDieR-PHP: A reporting guideline for population health and policy interventions. BMJ 361:k1079.
- Di Cesare M, Khang YH, Asaria P, Blakely T, Cowan MJ, Farzadfar F, Guerrero R, Ikeda N, Kyobutungi C, Msyamboza KP, Oum S, Lynch JW, Marmot MG, Ezzati M. 2013. Inequalities in non-communicable diseases and effective responses. Lancet 381:585–597.
- Department of Health. 2011. Nutrient Profiling Technical Guidance. London. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/216094/dh 123492.pdf.
- Dubois P, Griffith R, O'Connell M. 2018. The Effects of Banning Advertising in Junk Food Markets. Rev. Econ. Stud. 85:396–436. https://academic.oup.com/restud/article/85/1/396/3108825.
- Fagerberg P, Langlet B, Oravsky A, Sandborg J, Löf M, Ioakimidis I. 2019. Ultra-processed food advertisements dominate the food advertising landscape in two Stockholm areas with low vs high socioeconomic status. Is it time for regulatory action? BMC Public Heal. 2019 191 19:1–10. https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-019-8090-5.
- Gale NK, Heath G, Cameron E, Rashid S, Redwood S. 2013. Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. BMC Med. Res. Methodol. 2013 131 13:1–8. https://bmcmedresmethodol.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1471-2288-13-117.
- Gordon R, Harris F, Mackintosh AM, Moodie C. 2011. Assessing the cumulative impact of alcohol marketing on young people's drinking: Cross-sectional data findings. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/16066351003597142 19:66–75. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.3109/16066351003597142.
- Goyder E, Blank L, Baxter S, van Schalkwyk MC. 2020. Tackling gambling related harms as a public health issue. Lancet Public Heal. 5:e14–e15.
- GroupM. 2020. THIS YEAR NEXT YEAR: GLOBAL END-OF-YEAR FORECAST. https://www.groupm.com/this-

- year-next-year-global-end-of-year-forecast-2020/.
- Kickbusch I, Allen L, Franz C. 2016. The commercial determinants of health. Lancet Glob. Heal. 4:e895–e896.
- Kristiansen S, Severin-Nielsen MK. 2021. Adolescent gambling advertising awareness: A national survey. Int. J. Soc. Welf. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/ijsw.12501.
- Lowery BC, Sloane DC. 2014. The Prevalence of Harmful Content on Outdoor Advertising in Los Angeles: Land Use, Community Characteristics, and the Spatial Inequality of a Public Health Nuisance. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301694 104:658–664. http://ajph.aphapublications.org/.
- Monaghan S, Derevensky J, Sklar A. 2008. Impact of gambling advertisements and marketing on children and adolescents: Policy recommendations to minimise harm. J. Gambl. Issues:252–274. https://igi.camh.net/index.php/jgi/article/view/3802/3807.
- Olsen JR, Patterson C, Caryl FM, Robertson T, Mooney SJ, Rundle AG, Mitchell R, Hilton S. 2021. Exposure to unhealthy product advertising: Spatial proximity analysis to schools and socio-economic inequalities in daily exposure measured using Scottish Children's individual-level GPS data. Health Place 68:102535.
- OutSmart. 2021. Who sees OOH? https://www.outsmart.org.uk/who-sees-ooh.
- Robertson T, Lambe K, Thornton L, Jepson R. 2017. OP57 Socioeconomic patterning of food and drink advertising at public transport stops in the city of edinburgh, uk. J Epidemiol Community Heal. 71:A29–A29. https://jech.bmj.com/content/71/Suppl_1/A29.1.
- Scully M, Wakefield M, Niven P, Chapman K, Crawford D, Pratt IS, Baur LA, Flood V, Morley B. 2012. Association between food marketing exposure and adolescents' food choices and eating behaviors. Appetite 58:1–5.
- Settle PJ, Cameron AJ, Thornton LE. 2014. Socioeconomic differences in outdoor food advertising at public transit stops across Melbourne suburbs. Aust. N. Z. J. Public Health 38:414–418. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/1753-6405.12257.
- SUSTAIN. 2021. Bristol becomes first city outside London to restrict junk food advertising. March 10. https://www.sustainweb.org/news/mar21-bristol-launch-healthier-food-advertising-policy/.
- Syvertsen A, Erevik EK, Hanss D, Mentzoni RA, Pallesen S. 2021. Relationships Between Exposure to Different Gambling Advertising Types, Advertising Impact and Problem Gambling. J. Gambl. Stud. 2021:1–18. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10899-021-10038-x.
- Tfl. 2019. FOI request detail: HFSS ban (FOI-0137-1920). May 15. https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/transparency/freedom-of-information/foi-request-detail?referenceId=FOI-0137-1920.
- Tfl. 2020. FOI request detail. HFSS Ad Ban. March 27. https://tfl.gov.uk/corporate/transparency/freedom-of-information/foi-request-detail?referenceId=FOI-3823-1920.
- TfL. 2018. Mayor confirms ban on junk food advertising on transport network. https://tfl.gov.uk/info-for/media/press-releases/2018/november/mayor-confirms-ban-on-junk-food-advertising-on-transport-netwo.
- Thomas F, Thomas C, Hooper L, Rosenberg G, Vohra J, Bauld L. 2019. Area deprivation, screen time and consumption of food and drink high in fat salt and sugar (HFSS) in young people: results from a cross-sectional study in the UK. BMJ Open 9:e027333. https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/9/6/e027333.
- Thompson C, Clary C, Er V, Adams J, Boyland E, Burgoine T, Cornelsen L, de Vocht F, Egan M, Lake AA, Lock K, Mytton O, Petticrew M, White M, Yau A, Cummins S. 2021. Media representations of opposition to the 'junk food advertising ban' on the Transport for London (TfL) network: A thematic content analysis of UK news and trade press. SSM Popul. Heal. 15:100828.

- Vocht F de, Katikireddi SV, McQuire C, Tilling K, Hickman M, Craig P. 2021. Conceptualising natural and quasi experiments in public health. BMC Med. Res. Methodol. 2021 211 21:1–8. https://bmcmedresmethodol.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12874-021-01224-x.
- WHO. 2016. World health statistics 2016: monitoring health for the SDGs sustainable development goals.
- World Health Organisation (WHO). 2018. EVALUATING IMPLEMENTATION OF THE WHO SET OF RECOMMENDATIONS ON THE MARKETING OF FOODS AND NON-ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES TO CHILDREN: Progress, challenges and guidance for next steps in the WHO European Region. https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/384015/food-marketing-kids-eng.pdf.
- Yau A, Berger N, Law C, Cornelsen L, Greener R, Adams J, Boyland E, Burgoine T, de Vocht F, Egan M, Er V, Lake A, Lock K, Mytton O, Petticrew M, Thompson C, White M, Cummins S. 2021a. Impact of restricting advertising of products high in fat, sugar and salt across the Transport for London network on food and drink purchasing: a controlled interrupted time series using longitudinal purchase data submitted.
- Yau A, Adams J, Boyland EJ, Burgoine T, Cornelsen L, Vocht F de, Egan M, Er V, Lake AA, Lock K, Mytton O, Petticrew M, Thompson C, White M, Cummins S. 2021b. Sociodemographic differences in self-reported exposure to high fat, salt and sugar food and drink advertising: a cross-sectional analysis of 2019 UK panel data. BMJ Open 11:e048139. https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/11/4/e048139.